
UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA 

--------------------------------------------- 
 BKY No. 09-50779 
In re:  
 TRUSTEE’S REPLY MEMORANDUM TO 
Dennis E. Hecker,  DEBTOR’S RESPONSE TO TRUSTEE’S    
 MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER       
  Debtor. REGARDING 11 U.S.C. §704                      
--------------------------------------------- 
 

BACKGROUND 
 
 On June 4, 2009 the Debtor filed bankruptcy.  Schedules were due on June 22, 2009.  On 

June 17, 2009, search warrants were executed on Debtor’s homes and business headquarters.  On 

June 22, 2009, the Debtor filed an application to extend the time to file schedules to July 1, 2009.  

An order was entered extending the time. 

 Over 120 days have passed since this case was commenced.  The Debtor has apparently 

made no effort to review the documents which were seized in the execution of the June 17, 2009 

search warrants.  Affidavit of Randall L. Seaver dated October 6, 2009 ("Seaver Aff.") at par. 2. 

 The Debtor has never filed amended Schedules I and J.  The original schedules have 

“0.00” on every line. 

 In response to this motion, the Debtor has not provided the Court with any detail of the 

supposed “efforts” he has made and time he has expended in compiling information to prepare 

and file truthful schedules.   

 It does appear, however, that since filing his bankruptcy petition, the Debtor has had time 

to take vacation trips to Hawaii and Las Vegas.1  He has also had the time available to attempt to 

purchase a multi-million dollar home in Kenwood.  Seaver Aff., Ex. A.   

                                                           
1 It appears from the tickets that these may have been tickets purchased by the Debtor pre-petition and exchanged 
post-petition.   
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 The value of this bankruptcy estate will be increased by the amount of additional assets 

the Trustee is able to locate.  Solely through the Trustee’s efforts in seeking the truth, the Trustee 

discovered the transfer of a $154,000 ring to Jessica Robb,2 and the transfers by the Debtor of (1) 

a 2008 Harley Davidson motorcycle; (2) his interest in a 2008 Malibu Wavesetter boat; and (3) a 

2007 Cobalt boat.  None of those items were voluntarily disclosed by the Debtor until after 

confronted with the Trustee’s knowledge of those items.  Similarly, the Debtor did not disclose 

the magnitude of transfers to his girlfriend, Christi Rowan, until he knew the Trustee was 

undertaking an investigation regarding those transfers and had conducted substantial discovery 

designed to uncover the truth.  Suddenly, the Debtor “remembered,” among other things, that he 

had spent over $30,000 to purchase a dog for Christi Rowan in February 2009, just months 

before the commencement of this bankruptcy case. 

 Additionally, the Debtor has never scheduled nor disclosed an extensive dock/lift system 

in place at his Crosslake vacation property.  The Trustee discovered the existence of those items 

and the Debtor has now offered to purchase those items from the estate for $25,000.   

 The Trustee does not believe the existence of any of these items and transfers would have 

been voluntarily disclosed by the Debtor and, in fact, they were not voluntarily disclosed by the 

Debtor.  The only disclosures occurred after the Debtor was confronted with evidence or knew 

the Trustee was about to obtain evidence regarding those items.   

 The “game” of concealing assets continues for the Debtor.  As another example, the 

Debtor pre-paid for the lease of a home in Sturgis, South Dakota for the 2009 Sturgis Motorcycle 

Rally.  The prepayment had been made prior to his filing.  Seaver Aff., Ex. A (Rowan 0069).  

                                                           
2 While the Trustee has been able to discover the $154,000 transfer to Jessica Robb, it appears, from the e-mail sent 
by Debtor to Ms. Robb on August 3, 2009, that there may be other “items” transferred by Mr. Hecker to her from 
2007-2009.  Seaver Aff., Ex. A, (Rowan 54).  Other than a $10,000.00 cash transfer disclosed, the Debtor has not 
disclosed additional transfers to Ms. Robb in his statement of financial affairs.   
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The Debtor was even reminded of the prepayment by his assistant, Susan Miller.  Id.  

Nonetheless, the Debtor never disclosed the existence of this asset, nor the existence of the lease 

in his schedules.  This is another valuable asset concealed by the Debtor.   

 Another example of the Debtor disclosing assets only after the Trustee became aware of 

their existence was the concealment by the Debtor of many watches including several Rolex 

watches.  The Debtor’s original schedules listed watches.  However, when the Trustee reviewed 

insurance schedules (which he obtained from the Debtor), the Trustee discovered other watches 

which were not scheduled by the Debtor.  The Trustee sued the Debtor in Adv. No. 09-5020 to 

gain possession of both the scheduled and unscheduled watches.  After being sued, the Debtor 

turned over the additional, unscheduled Rolex watches in mid-July 2009.  Finally, on September 

1, 2009, the Debtor filed an Amended Schedule disclosing the existence of those watches that the 

Trustee’s litigation had forced him to disclose.  It is believed that those watches have a value in 

the tens of thousands of dollars.   

 It is against this background of duplicity and concealment that the Court must consider 

the Trustee’s request.  To the extent that the Debtor learns that the Trustee has knowledge of 

additional assets or transfers or other relevant information not previously disclosed by the 

Debtor, the Debtor may elect to then “disclose” those items.  On the other hand, if the Debtor 

does not know what additional assets the Trustee has discovered, the Debtor may offer some 

truthful testimony about additional assets which have not been scheduled, but have not yet been 

discovered by the Trustee.  That is, the possibility of the Trustee discovering additional assets for 

the estate will be enhanced if the Trustee is able to conduct the Rule 2004 examinations without 

the Debtor having been able to inspect records compiled by the Trustee.  Further, the Trustee's 

investigation would be pursuing less of a "moving target."   
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 1. The Debtor has made no effort to review his own records. 

 The Debtor claims that he “cannot review his own records.”  That is not true.  What is 

true is that he has not even bothered to seek to review the records which are in the possession of 

the authorities.  The Debtor has not contacted the U.S. Attorney to arrange to review records.  If 

he had done so, he would have been able to review them.  Seaver Aff., par 2.  The Debtor cannot 

use his failure to seek access to his records as a basis to obtain access to all the records that the 

Trustee has worked diligently, and at great expense, to compile.  If the heading of the Debtor’s 

paragraph on this section had been accurate, it would have stated: “The Debtor has made no 

attempt to review his own records.”  The disregard that this Debtor has shown for presenting 

complete and accurate evidence to this Court cannot now be rewarded by granting the Debtor 

unfettered access to the Trustee’s investigation records, compiled at great expense to the estate.   

LEGAL ARGUMENT 

 The question before the Court is whether, given the facts in this case, the Trustee should 

be excused, furnishing “such information concerning the estate and the estate’s administration as 

is requested by a party-in-interest,” as otherwise required by 11 U.S.C. §704(7).   

 The Debtor argues that there is an eight factor test in determining whether to grant the 

Trustee the requested relief.  The statute, in its plain language, does not provide an 8 factor test 

as suggested by the Debtor in his memorandum.  The statute simply provides that such 

information will be produced “unless the court orders otherwise.”   

 The question is “under what circumstances should a bankruptcy court order that a trustee 

does not have to produce documents to a debtor pending further order of the court?”3  The 

                                                           
3 Although the Trustee’s motion, because of concerns that others acting on the Debtor’s behalf would seek 
information from the Trustee, sought relief authorizing the Trustee not to disclose information, the goal and intent of 
the Trustee’s motion is to obtain an order from the Court that the Trustee does not have to provide information and 
documents obtained by the Trustee to the Debtor under 11 U.S.C. §704(7) pending further order of the Court. 
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Debtor’s assertion that there is an eight factor test can quickly be disposed of.  The cases cited by 

the Debtor all arise under the Rules of Civil Procedure, and specifically, Rule 26(c) which 

governs the issuance of a protective order under certain circumstances.4 

 This is not an adversary proceeding and the Trustee is not seeking relief under 

Bankruptcy Rule 7026.  Relief is sought under 11 U.S.C. §704(a)(2) which provides that 

information must be furnished “unless the court orders otherwise.”  Thus, the good cause 

standard, and specific items for consideration developed under Rule 26, have no application to 

this matter.  

 The Trustee believes this Court should consider whether the issuance of an order by this 

Court excusing the Trustee from opening his records to the Debtor would (1) further the policies 

of the Bankruptcy Code; and, (2) enhance the ability of the Trustee to fulfill his fiduciary duties 

of collecting and reducing to money property of the estate, investigating the financial affairs of 

the Debtor, and opposing the discharge of the Debtor.  The Trustee believes that consideration of 

these factors require the issuance of an order excusing the Trustee from making information 

available to the Debtor pending further order of the Court.  

1. Bankruptcy Code policy favors non-disclosure to the Debtor at this time 

 This Debtor appears to believe that he is entitled to be treated far differently than any 

other debtor.  Every other debtor, regardless of the complexity of their affairs, is expected to file 

truthful and complete schedules.  Generally, those schedules are required to be filed at the time 

the bankruptcy case is commenced.  This Debtor commenced his case on June 4, 2009, but did 

not file schedules and a statement of financial affairs at that time.  Those documents were then 

due on June 22, 2009.  Presumably, the Debtor and his attorneys were “working diligently” on 

                                                           
4 Rule 26 is applicable in adversary proceedings pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 7026.  This may be a "contested 
matter" under Bankruptcy Rule 9014, implicating Bankruptcy Rule 7026, but the Trustee is not seeking relief under 
that provision. 
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gathering information and preparing those documents at least from the moment the bankruptcy 

petition was filed.  On June 17, 2009, just five days before the Debtor was required to file those 

schedules and statement financial affairs, certain of the Debtor’s records were seized by law 

enforcement authorities in raids on the Debtor’s homes and business.  By the time those records 

were seized the Debtor and his counsel should have been well on their way to having complete 

and truthful schedules and a statement financial affairs for filing.   

 The Debtor then obtained an additional extension of time to complete his filing and one 

of the stated reasons for which such an extension was the seizure of records by the authorities.  

The time for the Debtor to file schedules was again extended to July 1, 2009.  The Debtor did file 

his statement of financial affairs and schedules on that date.  The schedules and statement of 

financial affairs contain many misstatements and omissions.  For instance, schedules I and J 

contained “0.00” for every single line in the Debtor’s original schedules. Despite the passage of 

over 120 days since his filing, the Debtor has not disclosed a single item of income or expenses 

in his schedules.  Despite the passage of over 100 days since records were taken by authorities, 

the Debtor has apparently made no effort to review those records at the office of the U.S. 

Attorney.   

 While apparently having no time to file truthful information in this case, the Debtor has 

found time to take vacations in Hawaii and Las Vegas.  Seaver Aff., Ex. A.  The Debtor has also 

found time to negotiate for the purchase of a multimillion dollar home.  Id. 

 The Trustee, on the other hand, as this Court knows from the record before it, has 

expended extensive time and estate monies in gaining information about the Debtor’s business 

and financial affairs.  Many of the Debtor’s concealments, transfers, and false statements have 
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already been brought to the attention of the Court.  See, "Background," above, for a sampling of 

those items.   

 As a part of his investigation of the Debtor’s financial affairs, the Trustee set the 

examination of the Debtor for October 14, 2009.5  The Debtor has apparently decided that he and 

his attorneys can simply let the Trustee do his work, at substantial expense to the estate, and later 

stroll into the Trustee’s office and review all of the records the Trustee has compiled.  The 

Debtor will then know “what the Trustee knows” and can testify accordingly.   

 This is a treatment accorded to no other debtor.  Every other debtor files, or is expected to 

file, truthful schedules and a statement of financial affairs.  Debtor Dennis Hecker is not special 

and is not entitled to special treatment.  If all debtors treated their obligations under the 

Bankruptcy Code with such disdain, the system would fail.  If all debtors asserted that they 

needed to see what information the Trustee had before they submitted to a Rule 2004 

examination, and before they could file accurate schedules, the system would fail.  The policy of 

voluntary and truthful disclosure is squarely against the Debtor having the ability to review all 

records collected by the Trustee, at least at this juncture in the case.   

2. The Trustee’s duties to collect property of the estate, investigate the financial 
affairs of the Debtor, and oppose the discharge of the Debtor will all be enhanced by the 
Debtor not having access to records obtained by the Trustee at this time. 
 
 The Trustee has a duty to collect property of the estate, investigate the financial affairs of 

debtors and, if advisable, oppose the discharge of a debtor.  None of those duties will be 

furthered by allowing the Debtor unfettered access to the fruits of the Trustee’s extensive and 

expensive labors at this point in the case.  To allow a Debtor to simply wait before submitting to 

                                                           
5 The Debtor has told this Court through his filing that, apparently, he does not intend to appear at the scheduled 
examination because of unspecified “scheduling issues.” 
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a Rule 2004 examination would be an affront to the basic policies of honesty and disclosure of 

the Bankruptcy Code.   

 The Debtor’s apparent argument that he will not be able to truthfully answer questions 

unless he knows, in advance, what documentary evidence is possessed by the Trustee, reveals his 

true motivation.  Contrary to the Debtor’s representations to the Court, the Trustee cannot “trick” 

the Debtor into perjuring himself.  Truthful testimony is solely within the Debtor’s control.  All 

this Debtor has to do is to testify truthfully.  He does not need to review documents in the 

Trustee’s possession prior to his examination in order to provide truthful testimony.   

CONCLUSION 

 Providing Debtor with the special treatment that he is requesting is contrary to the 

intention and goals of the disclosure requirements of 11 U.S.C. §704(7).  The Trustee’s request 

for an order excusing compliance with 11 U.S.C. §704(7) until further order of the Court should 

be granted.        

 
 
 
 
Dated:  October 6, 2009 

LEONARD, O’BRIEN 
SPENCER, GALE & SAYRE, LTD. 
 
 /e/  Matthew R. Burton 
By:      
      Matthew R. Burton, #210018 
100 South Fifth Street, Suite 2500 
Minneapolis, Minnesota  55402 
Telephone:  (612) 332-1030 
Facsimile:  (612) 332-2740 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR RANDALL L. 
SEAVER, TRUSTEE 

 
410284 



UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA

---------------------------------------------
BKY No. 09-50779

In re: 

Dennis E. Hecker, AFFIDAVIT OF RANDALL L. SEAVER     

Debtor.

---------------------------------------------

STATE OF MINNESOTA )
)

COUNTY OF DAKOTA ) Randall L. Seaver, being first duly sworn,

deposes and states as follows: 

1. I am the Trustee in the above matter and have knowledge of the facts contained

herein.

2. I have been advised by an attorney in the Office of the U.S. Attorney that on the

request of the Debtor or his attorney, that office would have made and would now make records

seized from the Debtor available to him for review.  I have also been advised that no such request

has been made.

3. Christi Rowan recently produced some records in response to a Rule 2004

Subpoena.  Attached as Exhibits A are true and correct copies (with redaction if appropriate) of

documents provided by Ms. Rowan bearing control numbers Rowan 0027, 40,  41, 54, 56, 57

and 69.

4. Attached hereto as Exhibit B is a true and correct copy (with redaction where

appropriate) of a statement produced by TCF for a TCF account for New Dimension Advisors,

LLC for the time period ending 8/31/09.  I believe that New Dimension Advisors, LLC is a

business entity used by the Debtor for post-petition activities.  

5. Attached hereto as Exhibit C are true and correct copies of the Debtor’s original

B(7) and the supplemental B(7).  After the complaint in ADV No. 09-5020 was filed, the Debtor

turned additional unscheduled watches over to me.  Those watches are itemized at the Debtor’s





























UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA 

--------------------------------------------- 
 BKY No. 09-50779 
In re:  

Chapter 7 
Dennis E. Hecker,    
   
  Debtor.                       
--------------------------------------------- 
 

UNSWORN CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
I hereby certify that on October 6, 2009, I caused the following documents: 

Trustee's Reply Memorandum to Debtor's Response to Trustee's Motion for 
Protective Order Regarding 11 U.S.C. §704 and Affidavit of Randall L. Seaver 
 

to be filed electronically with the Clerk of Court through ECF, and that the above documents will be 
delivered by automatic e-mail notification pursuant to ECF and this constitutes service or notice 
pursuant to Local Rule 9006-1(a). 
 
 
 
        /e/  Stephanie Wood 
Dated:  October 6, 2009                 ____________________________________ 

Stephanie Wood 
100 South Fifth Street, Suite 2500 
Minneapolis, MN  55402 
(612) 332-1030 

409686 




